## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

**I. WHETHER THE REFEREE VIOLATED PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BY PREVENTING HIM FROM EXPLAINING THE MITIGATING FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES UNDERLYING HIS FELONY CONVICTION FOR OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE?**

**II. WHETHER THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT WAS EXCESSIVE DUE TO THE UNIQUE NATURE OF THE CRIME OF CONVICTION, THE EXTENSIVE EVIDENCE OF OTHER MITIGATING FACTORS, THE BAR'S CONCESSION THAT PETITIONER "IS A PERSON OF GOOD MORAL CHARACTER" AND THE REFEREE'S OWN FINDING THAT THE PETITIONER "HAS THE ABILITY TO BE REHABILITATED"?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1/</sup>

On April 10, 1991, alleged drug traffickers Salvador Magluta and Augusto Falcon were indicted by the federal grand jury in the Southern District of Florida in *United States v. Salvador Magluta, et al.*, Case No. 91-6060-Cr-Moreno (S.D. Fla.). *See* Amended Complaint, Exhibit A. Approximately one month later, on

---

<sup>1/</sup> Citations to the transcripts of the hearings before the Referee in this case will be referred to as "T." followed by the appropriate page numbers. Exhibits entered into evidence during the hearings will be referred to by the party and exhibit number.

May 16, 1991, the federal judge assigned to the case, the Honorable Frederico Moreno, entered a protective order, enjoining both the indicted defendants and their "agents, ... attorneys ... and those persons in active concert and participation with them" from receiving any assets owned by the indicted defendants. *Id.*

The Petitioner, RICHARD I. MARTINEZ, was one of a team of attorneys retained to represent Magluta and Falcon. *See p. 7 infra.* Over the course of a five year period, 1991-1996, Petitioner received substantial legal fees for the representation.

On July 14, 2000, Petitioner entered a guilty plea to a single count of obstruction of justice under 18 U.S.C. § 1503 in *United States v. Richard Martinez*, Case No. 99-583-Cr-Seitz (S.D. Fla.).<sup>2/</sup> The Information alleged that Petitioner's receipt of fees obstructed justice in that it violated the restraining order in the *Magluta-Falcon* case. On the same day his plea was entered, July 14, 2000, Petitioner was adjudicated guilty in a hearing before the Honorable Patricia A. Seitz and was sentenced to serve a term of six (6) months in a prison camp followed by six months of home detention.<sup>3/</sup>

---

<sup>2/</sup> Copies of the criminal Information and related documents were attached to the Bar's initial and amended Complaints and the Bar's Amended Motion For Partial Summary Judgment in this case.

<sup>3/</sup> A copy of the plea transcript was attached as Exhibit D to the Bar's Amended  
(continued...)

On September 18, 2000, this Court suspended Petitioner from the practice of law based on his plea and criminal judgment, pursuant to Rule 3-7.2(e) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. Thereafter, the Florida Bar filed initial and amended Complaints against Petitioner, pursuant to Rule 3-7.2(i)(1) and (2) of the Rules of Discipline, seeking Petitioner's disbarment.

On April 23, 2001, the Florida Bar moved for partial summary judgment, arguing that Petitioner's adjudication conclusively established four violations of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar: Rule 4-8.4(a) (violating the rules of professional conduct); Rule 4-8.4(b) (the commission of a criminal act); Rule 4-8.4(c) (engaging in conduct "involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation"); and Rule 4-8.4(d) (engaging in conduct that is "prejudicial to the administration of justice"). The Petitioner agreed in part and opposed in part the Bar's motion.

Petitioner acknowledged that, under Rule 3-7.2(1)(3) of the Rules of Discipline, his felony adjudication constituted conclusive proof of the criminal offense charged and agreed that partial summary judgment could be entered against him concerning three of the four violations listed in the Amended Complaint. However, Petitioner argued the "facts and circumstances behind" his conviction did not support a finding that he necessarily violated Rule 4-8.4(c) and that "due process

---

<sup>3</sup>(...continued)  
Motion For Partial Summary Judgment in this case.

requires that Respondent `be given full opportunity to explain the circumstances ... surrounding his conviction...." *See* Response To the Bar's Second Amended Motion For Partial Summary Judgment, April 21, 2001, at pp. 1-2, quoting *State ex rel. Florida Bar v. Evans*, 94 So.2d 730, 735 (Fla. 1957). Accordingly, Petitioner sought a hearing before a Referee to establish the full "facts and circumstances" and to offer evidence in mitigation. *Id.* However, on May 9, 2001, the Referee, the Honorable Henry Leyte-Vidal, granted the Bar's motion for partial summary judgment as to all four violations relied upon by the Bar and scheduled a hearing on mitigation for July 6, 2001.

Prior to the mitigation hearing, the Bar moved to exclude the proposed testimony of Petitioner's criminal defense attorney, James Jay Hogan, Esq., and to limit the amount of "character" testimony introduced by Petitioner. *See* The Florida Bar's Motion To Exclude Witnesses, June 20, 2001. The Referee convened a telephonic hearing on the motion on June 28, 2001. During the hearing, Bar counsel indicated that the Bar intended to introduce the entire July 14, 2000, plea transcript containing statements by both the prosecutor and Petitioner concerning the factual basis for the obstruction charge. *See* Transcript, June 28, 2001, at p. 4.

Nonetheless, the Bar objected to any additional or explanatory live testimony from Petitioner or his witnesses concerning that subject during the mitigation hearing

itself as "irrelevant." *Id.* at p. 4. The Bar also requested that the Referee restrict the number of character witnesses. The Bar took the position that disbarment was required based solely upon the "judgement and conviction" for a felony. *Id.* at p. 12. Indeed, the Bar represented that "we're not contesting the [Petitioner's] good character." *Id.* After additional argument on the subject, Bar counsel reiterated:

MS. REYES: Well, *we're not disputing that [Petitioner] is a good guy and I agree with Mr. Weiss as to that he is a good guy*, but the fact remains that he was convicted of knowingly taking money that was under a protective order.

*Id.* at p. 15 (emphasis added). The Referee, however, allowed Petitioner to call seven witnesses and to submit additional letters and affidavits concerning his character and community activities.

On July 6, 2001, the Referee conducted the mitigation hearing. *See* Transcript, July 6, 2001. As set forth further below, during the hearing, the Referee sustained Bar counsel's objection to testimony from Petitioner himself concerning the manner in which other attorneys representing Magluta and Falcon were paid and Petitioner's reliance on the conduct of these other attorneys. Transcript, July 6, 2001, at pp. 83-84.

On July 20, 2001, the Referee issued his Report, finding that Petitioner violated all four rules listed in the Amended Complaint. Despite extensive mitiga-

tion testimony and his own finding that Petitioner "has the ability to be rehabilitated," Report, at p. 8, the Referee also recommended that Petitioner be disbarred. In so ruling, the Referee disagreed with the position of Stephen Chaykin, the Designated Reviewer for the Board of Governors of the Florida Bar. Mr. Chaykin recommended that Petitioner only be punished with a three-year suspension. *See* Transcript, July 6, 2001, at p. 103. The Referee relied heavily on Standard 5.11(a), which states that disbarment is appropriate when a member of the Bar is convicted of a felony. *See* Report, at pp. 6, 8.

On August 2, 2001, Petitioner filed a Motion For New Trial and Rehearing due to the Referee's exclusion of evidence. The Motion also included proffers outlining the substance of the excluded testimony of both Petitioner and Mr. Hogan. On August 8, 2001, the Referee summarily denied the motion.

Petitioner timely filed an Amended Petition For Review seeking this Court's review of both the Referee's Report of July 20, 2001, and the Referee's Order of August 8, 2001. The Court has jurisdiction under Art. V, § 15, of the Florida Constitution.

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

### ***The Bar's Evidence***

At the beginning of the hearing on July 6, 2001, the Bar based its request for disbarment exclusively on the documents previously submitted to the Referee in support of its partial motion for summary judgment, *i.e.*, the criminal Information, Petitioner's Judgment and Conviction order, his plea agreement and the July 14, 2000, plea transcript. *See* Transcript July 6, 2001, at pp. 15, 19-20.

During his plea colloquy before Judge Seitz, the prosecutor, Assistant United States Attorney ("AUSA") Michael Patrick Sullivan, described the evidence against Petitioner, emphasizing that Petitioner was married to the sister of Isabel Solis, the ex-wife of Salvador Magluta. Transcript, July 14, 2000, at p. 26. AUSA Sullivan claimed that Petitioner necessarily "would have observed" Magluta's extravagant life style because Petitioner was Magluta's "brother-in-law." *Id.* at pp. 26-27.

Therefore, AUSA Sullivan surmised, Petitioner "would have realized at some point prior to 1991" that Magluta had no "legitimate" employment and must have been a drug trafficker. *Id.* at p. 27. *See also id.* at p. 30 (arguing that "a reasonable juror could conclude" that Petitioner "would have had the knowledge that brother-in-law Salvador Magluta was a drug trafficker").

AUSA Sullivan then explained that during the course of defending Magluta and Falcon in *United States v. Salvador Magluta, et al.*, Case No. 91-6060-Cr-Moreno (S.D. Fla.), Petitioner and numerous other defense lawyers, including Roy

Black, Martin Weinberg, Albert Krieger, Jeff Weiner, Marty Raskin and others, received extensive legal fees in the form of offshore bank checks and cashiers checks that had been routed through foreign exchange houses. *Id.* at pp. 30-32, 38-39. While a few of the checks Petitioner received were "co-endorsed or double-endorsed," the majority were to his name. *Id.* at p. 41. Over the course of five years, Petitioner received "approximately \$1 million" in fees. *Id.* at p. 31. AUSA Sullivan concluded his proffer by conceding that the government's evidence concerning Petitioner's knowledge that the fees came from Magluta (and, thus, was in violation of the restraining order), was "circumstantial," *id.* at p. 43, and that there were "no other criminal events, violations by him that haven't been made part of this case." *Id.* at p. 48.

Petitioner and his counsel disagreed with numerous aspects of AUSA Sullivan's proffer. Counsel pointed out that Petitioner was not married until 1990, *i.e.*, shortly before Magluta's indictment. *Id.* at p. 44. Petitioner did not receive cash. *Id.* at p. 44. Moreover, the fees and cost money he received "pale[d] in comparison to some of the other fees that were earned by other counsel" and, as AUSA Sullivan conceded, was paid to them in *precisely* the same fashion as Petitioner. *Id.* at pp. 33-35. Nonetheless, Petitioner pled "guilty" to the obstruction charge, acknowledging his guilt under the deliberate ignorance/circumstantial

evidence theory outlined by the prosecutor. *Id.* at p. 47. While he acknowledged accepting "funds from Salvador Magluta knowing of the restraining order," he did not admit to any of the other factual allegations in AUSA Sullivan's proffer. *Id.* at p. 25.

In the plea agreement itself, Petitioner agreed only to plead guilty to the one count of obstruction. The government promised not to seek the forfeiture of the fees paid to Petitioner and to recommend that Petitioner receive sentencing credit for his timely "acceptance of responsibility" under U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(a). Although Judge Seitz agreed to accept the plea, she noted on the record that "[t]his is a very close case factually." *Id.* at p. 50.

### ***Petitioner's Testimony***

By the time of the mitigation hearing, Petitioner was 39 years old. Transcript, July 6, 2001, at p. 66. He has been married for 10 years and has two young children. *Id.* Prior to this case, he had never been subject to Bar discipline or even had a grievance filed against him. *Id.* at p. 67.

Prior to attending law school, Petitioner worked as a teacher with the Miami-Dade County Public School System. He graduated from University of Miami Law School in 1987 and immediately began working for the Miami-Dade County State Attorney's Office. *Id.* at pp. 69-70. He worked as a prosecutor until November

1991, the year the indictment in the *Magluta/Falcon* case was returned. *Id.* at pp. 70, 74-75. At that time, he was only 29 years old and had no experience in either private practice or the federal criminal justice system. When he began work on the *Magluta/Falcon* case, "it was my first criminal defense case, period." *Id.* at p. 75.

Petitioner worked on the case for five years, until the defendants were acquitted in February 1996, under the leadership of several prominent defense attorneys, including Roy Black, Albert Krieger, Marty Weinberg and Jeffrey Weiner. *Id.* at p. 75. He took their instructions concerning the work needed on the case. *Id.* at pp. 77-78 and Respondent's Composite Exhibit 4. He received similar "to do" lists every 2-3 months. *Id.* It was a "full time job" during this period, which made it difficult to handle other cases. *Id.* at p. 77. Petitioner received a total of \$880,000 in fees and cost money, on average, \$176,000 each year he worked on the case. *Id.* at p. 83.<sup>4/</sup>

When Petitioner was first retained to represent Magluta in December 1991, he was unaware of the restraining order. *Id.* at p. 80. Following the seizure of documents from Magluta's jail cell in 1993, Petitioner learned about the order for the first time. *Id.* at pp. 82, 94. Neither the prosecutors nor any of the other more

---

<sup>4/</sup> Out of the funds Petitioner's law firm received, he, of course, had to pay overhead and staff salaries. The figures in the text represent only the gross figures received by Petitioner's firm.

experienced defense attorneys in the case ever alerted him to the possibility of violating a restraining order or advised him to be careful in the manner in which he received his fees. *Id.* at pp. 84-85. However, before Petitioner could answer questions concerning the fact that he was paid in a manner identical to the manner in which the more prominent attorneys in the case were paid, Bar counsel objected and the Referee would not allow further testimony on the subject. *Id.* at p. 83.<sup>5/</sup>

The restraining order was dissolved in March 1996, following the acquittals of Magluta and Falcon. *Id.* at p. 85. Upon learning that he was under investigation in 1999, Petitioner offered to "cooperate" with the prosecutors but "[t]hey weren't interested." *Id.* at p. 88. When he was initially charged in August 1999, he voluntarily surrendered in federal court. *Id.* at p. 88. He was not required to forfeit his fees as a condition of his plea. *Id.* at p. 93. Moreover, as discussed below, of all of the attorneys who received fees in the case, only Petitioner and attorney Mark Dachs were charged with violating the restraining order. *See* pp. 18-20 *infra*.

Petitioner acknowledged that his actions were "wrong" and that he should have been "more cautious," but testified that he had not set out to commit any crime. *Id.* at pp. 93-94. "My crime of accepting fees for work I did, I didn't believe was dishonest" at the time. *Id.* at p. 93.

---

<sup>5/</sup> Petitioner later submitted a detailed, written proffer concerning the substance of his excluded testimony. *See* pp. 18-20 *infra*.

The investigation leading up to his conviction had a "devastating" impact on his practice. "I had a pretty good practice. I have no practice now." *Id.* at p. 91. For several years, he and his family had to move away from their home and rent it out, because he could not afford to keep up with the mortgage payments. *Id.* at p. 91. Petitioner was extremely remorseful about the events:

I feel horrible. I feel I have brought disrepute on my family, on the Bar, on my profession. I most of all feel bad about putting my kids through separation for those six months [in a prison camp].

*Id.* at p. 92.

Petitioner also testified about and introduced exhibits documenting the substantial *pro bono* and community-related volunteer work he has performed over the years. Until his suspension, Petitioner provided *pro bono* legal services to the needy through the Cuban-American Bar Association and a program run by the court system. *Id.* at p. 71. Petitioner has also been active in community groups and activities. Since before the birth of his children, Petitioner has been active in the Miami-Dade County Public Schools. *Id.* at p. 73. And, he won an award for work performed for the school system during the 1997-1998 school year. *Id.* at p. 72. More recently, Petitioner has performed work for Habitat for Humanity. *Id.* at pp. 72-73 and Respondent's Composite Exhibit 4.

### ***The Character Witnesses***

**Albert Krieger.** Mr. Krieger was one of the lead attorneys in the *Magluta/Falcon* case. Mr. Krieger has been one of our country's most prominent criminal defense attorneys for several decades. He has been a member of the House of Delegates for the American Bar Association for the last 20 years and is one of the founders and past-presidents of the National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers ("NACDL"). *Id.* at p. 22. Mr. Krieger met Petitioner during the course of preparing for the trial and worked with him throughout the five-year pre-trial and trial period. *Id.* at pp. 22-23.<sup>6/</sup> Like Petitioner, Mr. Krieger was not aware of the restraining order concerning the receipt of fees when he first entered the case in 1991 and the order was not a subject of discussion among defense counsel in general or with Petitioner in particular. *Id.* at pp. 26, 30-31. Mr. Krieger described Petitioner as "hard working," "sincere" and "a joy to work with." *Id.* at p. 24. He believed Petitioner was "ethical beyond measurement" and would not hesitate to refer cases to him. *Id.* at p. 32; *see also id.* at p. 35.

**James Jay Hogan.** Mr. Hogan, a peer of Mr. Krieger, has practiced criminal law in Florida and numerous other states for 39 years. *Id.* at pp. 36-37. He is a member of the ABA White Collar Crime Committee, a Fellow of the

---

<sup>6/</sup> Magluta and Falcon were ultimately acquitted of all charges in the trial. *Id.* at 24.

American College of Trial Lawyers, the Southern District of Florida's Grievance Committee and numerous other organizations. *Id.* at p. 37. Mr. Hogan has known Petitioner since approximately 1993 and was one of the attorneys who represented Petitioner in his criminal case. Mr. Hogan, knowing the facts of the case, unequivocally vouched for Petitioner's honesty, integrity and ethics. *Id.* at p. 39. "I'd hire him tomorrow." *Id.* at p. 40.

***Jeffrey Weiner.*** Mr. Weiner has been a leading member of the criminal defense bar for 26 years. Like Mr. Krieger, he is a former president of NACDL, and he has frequently lectured on ethics and professionalism and has argued cases in over 25 states. *Id.* at pp. 42-44. Mr. Weiner has known Petitioner since Petitioner worked as a prosecutor and also worked with Petitioner on the *Magluta/Falcon* case. *Id.* at pp. 44-45.<sup>7/</sup> Petitioner had just left the State Attorney's Office when he joined the *Magluta/Falcon* defense team and was given "a lot of the investigator type work, the grunt work, so to speak ... to interview witnesses, to go to the jail, to gather evidence, organize evidence, and things like that." *Id.* at pp. 46-47. Despite Petitioner's conviction, Mr. Weiner believes that Petitioner is "a beautiful person who is totally honorable." *Id.* at p. 49.

---

<sup>7/</sup> Mr. Weiner represented a co-defendant in the case, Orlando Lorenzo. *Id.* at p. 45.

**Robert Wells.** Mr. Wells has been practicing law in Miami since 1993, and worked on the *Magluta/Falcon* case as a "contract" associate of Mr. Krieger that same year. *Id.* at pp. 50-51. He personally witnessed much of the work Petitioner did on the case. *Id.* at p. 52. After the case ended, Petitioner helped Mr. Wells with his own practice, helping him pick juries and co-counseling cases with him. *Id.* at pp. 53-54. By 1997, they were sharing office space together and Wells employed Petitioner as a "legal assistant/paralegal." *Id.* at pp. 54-55. He never saw Petitioner do anything that he considered inappropriate or unethical and "would trust him with anything." *Id.* at p. 54.

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