IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

RICHARD IGNACIO MARTINEZ,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case
No. SC00-2221

The Florida Bar File
No. 2001-70,438(11D)

The Florida Bar's Answer Brief

VIVIAN MARIA REYES

Bar Counsel
Florida Bar No. 004235
The Florida Bar
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS

Staff Counsel
Florida Bar No. 253847
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(850) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.

Executive Director
Florida Bar No. 123390
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(850) 561-5839

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

By not offering any affidavit or competent evidence in opposition to The Bar's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Respondent has waived the right to challenge the finding of guilt on the various rule violations. Moreover, Respondent cannot raise the issue of the exclusion of James Hogan as a fact witness, since he stipulated to that exclusion.

Even if Respondent's actions above did not constitute a waiver, applicable law limits respondent's ability to offer such evidence. Case law dictates that in the absence of an *Alford* plea, a respondent cannot offer in mitigation evidence of the circumstances surrounding his plea. To allow him to do so would cause the referee to go behind the conviction and result in a trial de novo.

Having admitted guilt under oath to knowingly and willfully engaging in the criminal conduct of which he stands convicted, a respondent cannot offer in mitigation of a disciplinary sanction arguments of deliberate ignorance of the law, selective prosecution by the government, and broad nature of the applicable criminal statute.

Respondent claims, in his second argument, that the Referee erred by recommending disbarment. This Court has stated that a Referee's recommendation of discipline will be upheld if there is a reasonable basis in case

law or the standards.

The Bar submits that there are a number of cases and standards which directly support the Referee's recommendation of disbarment in this case. Similar cases have resulted in disbarment. Those cases are discussed in detail in the Bar's argument.

The cases also support the principle that findings of aggravation will be treated as factual questions, thereby having a presumption of correctness. This Court also treats as a factual question the Referee's finding that the mitigating factors are not sufficient to overcome the presumption favoring disbarment for a felony. Respondent has not challenged those findings.

The applicable standards set forth in Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions are 5.11(a)(b)(f), 6.21, and 7.1. Those standards are quoted verbatim in the Argument. They designate disbarment as the proper discipline in view of the facts of this case.

Respondent cites a number of cases on the sole basis that they deal with "obstructive" behavior. The inapplicable nature of those cases is discussed in detail in the Argument.

ARGUMENT

I

IN THE ABSENCE OF AN “ALFORD” PLEA, A RESPONDENT IN A DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING HAS NO DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO EXPLAIN THE CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING HIS PLEA OF GUILT TO FELONIOUS ACTS. RESPONDENT DOES HAVE THE RIGHT TO PRESENT EVIDENCE IN MITIGATION PRIOR TO THE IMPOSITION OF DISCIPLINE. (Restated)

Initially, this Court should note that Respondent has waived any argument regarding denial of the right to be heard as to the enumerated rule violations. The Bar filed a motion for partial summary judgment which was granted as to Respondent’s guilt of the felony and violation of a number of rules. (See Statement of the Case and Facts, pp. 1-5). Respondent did not oppose any of the asserted rule violations except for Rule 4-8.4(c) (A lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation). Respondent offered no affidavit nor any competent evidence to serve as a denial for the motion. Since Respondent did not provide any evidence in opposition to the motion, his guilt of the felony and related rule violations has been established. Respondent does not challenge the ruling in favor of the Bar on summary judgment in his appeal. Therefore, it was proper on that basis alone, that only mitigating and aggravating evidence be introduced.

Moreover, Respondent stipulated at a hearing on The Florida Bar’s Motion

to Exclude Witnesses to withdrawing his witness James Hogan except as to character. Initially, Respondent had also wanted Mr. Hogan, Respondent's criminal defense attorney, to testify to the facts and circumstances behind Respondent's plea. The following encounter took place before the referee:

MR. WEISS: My client is not arguing that he's innocent, but I think the Court to some degree might find relevant the circumstances behind the plea.

Now, if the Bar is going to stipulate that they're not going to give the Court any input from the U.S. Attorney's Office and they're going to stand pat on the mere documents that they're submitting, I will withdraw Mr. Hogan except as to the character.

THE REFEREE: Let me ask this question, Miss Reyes.

MS. REYES: Yes.

THE REFEREE: Are you intending to call anybody from the U.S. Attorney's Office on that issue? Because the document is very clear --

MS. REYES: No.

THE REFEREE: -- or at least appears to be very clear.

MS. REYES: No. I'm not intending. I never listed any A.U.S.A. and I told Mr. Weiss that I was not intending to call them.

If I didn't, I'll be clear right now. I am not intending to call them.

THE REFEREE: So under those circumstances, Mr. Weiss, if I understand you correctly then, Mr. Hogan will be just a

character witness.

MR. WEISS: That's correct, Your Honor.

(Transcript 6/28/01, p. 8-9).

Assuming arguendo that this Court does not agree that Respondent's actions above constitute a waiver as to the admission of such evidence, Respondent is limited by law from offering such evidence.

Rule 3-7.2(i)(3) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provides that determinations or judgments of guilt of felonies shall constitute conclusive guilt of the offenses(s) charged. Application of this rule to the instant case makes it clear that Respondent must be found guilty of having committed the crime of which he stands convicted. This is not to say that Respondent does not have a right to be heard. He does. However, when the rule is read in light of the applicable case law, it is apparent that the right to be heard is limited.

On July 14, 2000, Respondent tendered a guilty plea before United States District Judge Patricia Seitz in the matter of United States of America v. Richard Ignacio Martinez, to the charge that he did, from October 15, 1991 through March 12, 1996, corruptly obstruct the administration of justice in the case of United States v. Falcon and Magluta, by knowingly and willfully receiving, without prior approval of the court, approximately one million dollars in proceeds obtained from

the distribution of controlled substances by Falcon and Magluta, knowing that the funds represented property subject to a protective order entered by Judge Moreno, the presiding judge in the Falcon and Magluta prosecution, in violation of federal law. (Appendix A, p. 6-7). When asked by the Court the reason why he was pleading guilty, Respondent, under oath, replied as follows:

THE DEFENDANT: For various reasons, your Honor. But one relevant at this point is that I accepted funds from Salvador Magluta knowing of the restraining order.

THE COURT: And knowing of the source of the funds?

THE DEFENDANT: The source of the funds, yes.

(Appendix A, p. 25).

Respondent's guilty plea was clear and unequivocal. It was knowing, willing, and voluntary. It was certainly not an *Alford* plea.² There was no protestation of innocence. To the contrary, there was an admission of knowing and willful felonious misconduct.

The issue in The Florida Bar v. Pavlick, 504 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 1987), was whether an attorney in a disbarment proceeding predicated upon a felony conviction may offer in mitigation evidence of the circumstances surrounding his

² A plea containing a protestation of innocence when a defendant intelligently concludes that his interests require entry of a guilty plea. North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970).

Alford plea. This Court answered in the affirmative finding that doing so *under these circumstances* did not involve a trial de novo because the respondent's version of the underlying case and the reasons for his plea were consistent with his *Alford* plea. Such is not the situation in the instant case. In the matter sub judice, the Respondent, by his own admission under oath, accepted the tainted funds both knowing they were subject to a restraining order and knowing their source. Any presentation of evidence surrounding the facts of the underlying case, whether as to Respondent's mens rea, the culpability of others, or the nature of the offense itself, must necessarily be inconsistent with Respondent's own admissions in his plea colloquy and would cause the Referee to go behind the conviction.

In one of the earliest cases addressing the issue of a respondent's right to present evidence surrounding the circumstances of his adjudication, The Florida Bar v. Evans, 94 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1957), the respondent was permitted to put on evidence of the serious physical illness which precipitated his nolo contendere plea to the criminal charges against him. This ruling is not inconsistent with the Bar's position. Illness is a factor in mitigation under the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Moreover, a plea of nolo contendere is not a plea of guilt.

In The Florida Bar v. Fussell, 179 So.2d 852 (Fla. 1965), the respondent was suspended for a period of three years without opportunity to present *any*

testimony in mitigation of the penalty. This Court held that where disbarment of an attorney is sought, due process requires that the attorney be noticed and provided reasonable opportunity to be heard. The Court noted that while the governing rule provided for a judgment of conviction to stand as conclusive proof of guilt of the offense, it was a rule of evidence and not in and of itself conclusive as to the ultimate disciplinary sanction to be taken. Hence this Court's conclusion that due process requires notice and opportunity to be heard both in person and through witnesses.

It must be noted that Fussell was provided *no* opportunity to be heard prior to his suspension and the issue before the Court was whether the Board of Governors (this case was tried under predecessor governing rules) could impose discipline based on a felony conviction without affording the accused attorney the opportunity to present witnesses and his own testimony in regard to mitigation. Clearly, the answer is it could not. The Bar agrees that respondents enjoy a due process right to be heard in mitigation. In the instant case, the Respondent Martinez was afforded his due process rights. He testified as did numerous character witnesses on his behalf. What the respondent could not do is offer evidence in contradiction of his sworn admission of guilt. To do so would be to go behind the guilty plea and conviction and essentially retry the criminal case.

While the case law allows evidence in mitigation of discipline, it does not allow for retrial of the criminal case.

It is also important to note that Fussell's offering in mitigation consisted, in good part, of evidence that the misconduct did not arise in an attorney-client relationship, no financial injury remained, sanctions had been imposed against the respondent in another forum, and he had family responsibilities which included his earning a living as an attorney. These are mitigating factors which do not negate respondent's conviction. While Fussell also would have offered in evidence that his crime was not grounded in fraud and the offense was a technical one (knowingly making false statements in an application for a home improvement loan), the opinion does not tell us the procedural history of Fussell's criminal conviction. We know only that he was convicted. We do not know if that conviction followed a trial or a plea. We do not know if any protestation of innocence took place before the court. We do not know if Fussell conceded his guilt. Regardless, it is evident from a reading of The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 374 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1979), that a respondent cannot go behind his criminal conviction and secure a trial de novo before the referee.

Most importantly, later cases including The Florida Bar v. Isis, 552 So.2d 913 (Fla. 1989), The Florida Bar v. Cohen, 583 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 1991), and

Pavlick, supra, clearly stand for the proposition that where there is record evidence that a plea to criminal charges was accompanied by protestations of innocence, a respondent may offer evidence of the underlying criminal case and the reasons for the plea. In Isis, as in the instant case, there was no such protestation of innocence and the respondent was precluded from presenting evidence that his prosecution was the result of a vendetta by an agency which he had successfully defeated in earlier court proceedings. Isis was disbarred.

Respondent argues that the obstruction of justice statute under which he was convicted is a “catch all” which includes far more serious offenses. He then concludes erroneously that the referee erred by treating all felony obstruction charges as equally serious and deserving of disbarment. Respondent would have this Court believe that the Referee acted in a vacuum devoid of any information other than the statute itself. Such is simply not the case. Included in the record before the Referee was the Information charging the Respondent, as well as the plea colloquy. The Referee was fully informed as to the specific acts which the Respondent committed and admitted to and that the Respondent did not admit to nor even stand accused of the examples given by Respondent, i.e., murder or bribery of a witness, suborning of perjury, and others. The Report of Referee clearly states that considered in aggravation was Respondent’s own admission at

the time of his plea that he knowingly and willfully received approximately one million dollars without court approval. The Referee additionally notes that Respondent admitted at the July 6, 2001 final hearing before him to having received \$880,000.00 in attorneys fees. The Referee specifically states in his Report that both times the Respondent admitted knowing that those funds represented property subject to Judge Moreno's protective order and that said monies were obtained from the distribution of controlled substances. (Appendix B, p. 7). Respondent's contention that willful violations of court orders are more typically treated as criminal contempt, even civil contempt, does not warrant response as the simple fact is that Respondent was convicted of a felony, not contempt. Respondent's arguments ignore the fact that he was so convicted, just as he ignores his own sworn admission of knowingly committing those felonious acts of which he stands convicted.

Respondent would like this Court to accept in mitigation of the Referee's disbarment recommendation his most recent spin on his criminal misconduct, to-wit: that the government's prosecution was essentially based on Respondent's familial relationship with Salvatore Magluta and his "willful blindness or deliberate ignorance to the source of the funds being used to pay the legal fees for *all* the lawyers in the case". This contention is put forth despite Respondent's own sworn

admission in federal court to knowingly and willfully receiving funds obtained from the distribution of controlled substances subject to a protective order. Contrary to Respondent's assertion that he was guilty under a theory of willful blindness or deliberate ignorance, respondent pled guilty to accepting the tainted funds knowing of both the restraining order and the source of the funds. (Appendix A, p. 25, 46-47). Clearly, Respondent would like to both have his cake and eat it too.

Finally, Respondent suggests that his prosecution was to serve as a warning to members of the defense bar that attorneys cannot accept fees from criminal defendants without engaging in an investigation into the source of those fees. Respondent's contention is similar in nature to that put forth in the Isis case, supra. This Court has already addressed these types of contentions and stated that in the absence of an *Alford* plea, they will not be considered. It is unnecessary to address the Respondent's remaining arguments as to a lawyer's duty to investigate the source of his fees as to do so would be to go behind the conviction. However, one cannot help but note that Respondent's recurring innuendo that he was selectively prosecuted is akin to the speeder's defense that everyone was doing it. The fact is that Respondent was charged with the crime, pled guilty to knowingly and willfully having committed the crime, and was convicted of the crime. His case was decided on its own facts. He cannot now disavow his admissions.

ARGUMENT

II

RESPONDENT HAS ESTABLISHED NO ERROR REGARDING THE RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT.

As this Court stated in The Florida Bar v. Vining, 761 So.2d 1044, 1048 (Fla. 2000):

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